Public Document Pack
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

CPH Stronger & Safer
Communities Decision Session

Tuesday 23rd February at 6pm
Online via YouTube

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS
During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place.
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at
least 24hrs before the meeting.
To view live paste this link into your browser:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ

Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices.
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors
concerned and the officers advising the Committee.

Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

(a)
You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.
(b)
When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, SubCommittee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:


Declare the interest if you have not already registered it



Not participate in any discussion or vote



Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with



Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
the meeting

(c)
If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you
or your partner.
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council)
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses.
Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.
Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the Council for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
class.
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors A Rolf, B Groom, F Nash and
G Slater

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000
Contact: Joseph Bright
Tel: 0121 704 6104
Email: jbright@solihull.gov.uk
Date Tuesday 16 February 2021

CPH STRONGER & SAFER COMMUNITIES DECISION SESSION - Tuesday
23 February 2021
AGENDA
Mayor/Chairman of the meeting to announce:
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the
internet.’

1.

APOLOGIES

2.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and/or conflict of interest
from Members.

3.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
To answer any questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of
the Borough pursuant to Standing Orders.

4.

WIDNEY MANOR CEMETERY (Pages 5 - 48)
To request Cabinet Member approval for the recommended option for
environmental investigative works at Widney Manor Cemetery.

5.

Q3 SSC REV CAP MONITORING REPORT (Pages 49 - 56)
To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s latest forecast financial position
as at the 31st December 2020 against Revenue and Capital budgets as
summarised below and detailed in the attached Appendix A.

To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s progress against the latest 3
year savings targets in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
summarised below and detailed in Appendix A.
6.

ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - STRONGER
COMMUNITIES & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY BOARD (Pages
57 - 58)
To consider recommendations and outcomes from the Stronger Communities &
Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board held on 20 January 2021 in respect of:


Safer Solihull Partnership Review

Agenda Item 4
Meeting date:

23rd February 2021

Report to:

Cabinet Member for Stronger and Safer
Communities

Subject/report
title:

Widney Manor Cemetery

Report from:

Alison McGrory – Assistant Director Communities & Partnerships

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Martyn Sargeant – Head of Customer Services
Julie Williams, Operational Support Manager, Bereavement Services

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

N/A

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To request Cabinet Member approval for the recommended option for environmental
investigative works at Widney Manor Cemetery.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

To approve the development of proposals for undertaking environmental remediation
works at Widney Manor Cemetery.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Widney Manor Cemetery, located in Bentley Heath, opened in 1992 and was
extended in 2011. The area is both residential and rural in nature, with the cemetery
bounded by open fields to the north, south and west. The extended area is bounded
by residents of Four Ashes Road to the east. At the time of the extension, hedgerows
and fencing were installed to screen residents from the cemetery.

3.2

The planning permission for the extension to the cemetery was supported by a ground
water risk assessment. This analysis resulted in constraints being placed upon the
planning permission due to the risk of water pollution which were identified by the
Environment Agency.

Page 5

3.3

The map at Appendix 1, illustrates the areas identified as suitable for burials. Area 1
is suitable for use for full burials at a depth to accommodate 2 burials per plot; Area 2
is potentially suitable for burials at a depth to accommodate 1 burial per plot, and Area
3 is unsuitable for burials due to shallow groundwater.

3.4

Further assessments were required to enable the discharge of the planning
constraints. These assessments were carried out by BCL Consultant Hydrologists Ltd
(BCL) a specialist hydrogeological and hydrological consultancy company.

3.5

The assessment identified higher groundwater levels than were indicated in the initial
monitoring data presented for the planning permission. As a result the area that had
been identified for burials was considerably reduced and therefore Solihull Council
instructed BCL to develop options for bringing part or all of the site back to its intended
use for burials.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

There are 3 options to be considered.

4.2

The first option is to raise ground elevation levels by either regrading existing levels
(raising Area 2 using materials from Area 3) or importation of external materials. The
key risks associated with this approach are:
1) Planning consent would be required which would include a waste recovery plan
and permit.
2) The area would be classed as landfill which may impact on public perception of
where their loved ones are being buried.
3) Potentially disrupting activity from noise, dust and vehicle movement to current
cemetery users. There may be disruption to normal services during this time
4) Experience gained during the development of the extension has shown that
residents of Four Ashes Road are likely to object to this option. This is because
some of the ground raising would be at the bottom of their gardens which would
mean an obstruction to the current landscape and greater impact with regards to
the view of headstones. It may also have some limited impact on groundwater
levels at the end of their gardens.
The main benefits of this approach are:
1) Potential to bring entire site back into use for burials.
2) Potential to receive infill materials from other SMBC developments.
3) Reliable and predictable method of overcoming shallow groundwater issues.
4) Preferred option of Environment Agency.

Page 6

4.3

Option 2 would be to lower groundwater levels via gravity dewatering. The key risks
associated with this approach are:
1) Potential benefits of this approach will not be fully understood until further
investigations are undertaken and associated costs incurred.
2) Works may be onerous and of long duration.
3) Further investigations may have a detrimental impact upon existing options and
burial space.
Benefits of Option 2 are:
1) Relatively acceptable from a planning and public perspective.
2) Quick to implement.
3) No significant visual impact upon the site.

4.4

The third option – Option 3 – combines the 2 previous approaches using ground
raising and drainage across the site. This has the potential to allow double burials
across Areas 2c and 3, but would be less intrusive than Option 1, requiring less infill
material and a shorter duration of works. However, this option is more complex and
costly than the other options.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

Officers recommend Option 3, as this will allow us to bring as much of the area back
into use for burials, while restricting the impact on local residents and the current
landscape.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:
Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

N/A

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising
the opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

N/A

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural
environment.

Page 7

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon
emissions.

6.2

People and Communities:

Improve Health and Wellbeing

7. Take action to improve life
chances in our most
disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.

Build Stronger Communities

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 This report has not been viewed by Scrutiny Board.
6.2.2 A consultation exercise will be carried out with residents of Four Ashes Road
6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 Over the past 5 years, the number of graves bought at Widney Manor Cemetery is
536 of which 167 have been purchased in reserve for future use. The ratio of
resident and non-resident purchase is 50:50. At the current fees, this would have
generated an income of £1,747,360 over the 5 year period. There have been 310
interments and again, based on current fees and resident to non-resident ratio, this
would have achieved £491,350 in income. Once the remaining 762 interments have
been completed, then a further £1,207,770 of income can be anticipated, however, it
should be noted that this income could be generated over many years.
6.3.2 If mitigating work is not undertaken then the current site will have approximately 6
years of land available for further double depth burials. This equates to 643 grave
spaces. If we apply the same principles as were applied in 6.4.1, then this would
generate £2,095,240 for the sale of the grave spaces and would allow for 1,286
interments. This has the potential to generate a further £1,018,540 once all interments
are completed, which may be over a significant period; at this point the cemetery
would then be closed.
6.3.3 If approval is obtained for the further investigation work then there is potential for the
remaining site to be able to accommodate double depth burials. This has the potential
to expand the working capabilities of the site for a further 10 years and provide a
further 1,072 grave spaces. Again, based upon today’s current prices and predictions,
that would generate income of £3,494,720 in grave sales over the 10 year period and
once all interments are completed a further £1,699,120.
6.3.4 It should be noted that the above figures would increase year on year once the annual
inflation increases are applied.

Page 8

6.3.5 It is anticipated that these investigative works will be funded from Bereavement
Services Reserves.
6.3.6 There are financial implications for the further investigation, planning permission and
acquiring the appropriate permits for each of the options. The approximate costs are:

6.4

Option 1

£42,916 to £48,416

Option 2

£31,612 to £45,462

Option 3

£50,402 to £65,462

Legal implications:

6.4.1 The potential planning implications are outlined in the body of the report
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 The Corporate Risk Management approach has been followed.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 Although an equality impact assessment is not required for this proposal, as it simply
underlines the council’s commitment to continued use of the Widney Manor site, an
informal appraisal has indicated that there would be benefits to the BAME community,
specifically Muslims, as Widney Manor accommodates Solihull’s dedicated Muslim
burial area.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

Appendix 1 – Map of current burial restrictions at Widney Manor Cemetery

7.2

Appendix 2 – BCL Hydro report on the development of options for burials at Widney
Manor.

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

Bereavement Services Policy 2019

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

N/A

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council

Widney Manor Cemetery
Solihull, West Midlands

Development of Options to Enable
Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
20th January 2020

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Council House
Manor Square
Solihull
B91 3QB
Tel: 0121 704 6000

Page 13
BCL Consultant Hydrogeologists Limited

Technology Centre, Wolverhampton Science Park, Glashier Drive, Wolverhampton
West Midlands, WV10 9RU. Tel: 01902 824111, Fax: 01902 824112
email: info@bclhydro.co.uk, web: http://www.bclhydro.co.uk
Registered Office: 33, Wolverhampton Road, Cannock, West Midlands, WV11 1AP
Registered in England & Wales. Company Registration Number: 4043373

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

Contents

Page Number

1

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................. 5

1.1

Background .......................................................................................... 5

1.2

Summary Site Setting .......................................................................... 5

1.3

Approach ............................................................................................. 6
1.3.1

Planning Constraints ......................................................................... 6

1.3.2

Regulatory Constraints ...................................................................... 7

1.3.3

Approach to Assessment .................................................................. 7

2

Preliminary Estimation of Unsaturated Thickness ......................... 8

2.1

The Available Data ............................................................................... 8

2.2

Groundwater Levels and Flows ........................................................... 8

2.3

Prevailing Unsaturated Thicknesses .................................................... 8

2.4

Required Unsaturated Thicknesses ..................................................... 9
2.4.1

Overview ............................................................................................ 9

2.4.2

Area 2C ............................................................................................... 9

2.4.3

Area 3 ............................................................................................... 10

3

Consideration of Options ............................................................ 11

3.1

Overview ............................................................................................ 11

3.2

Option 1 ............................................................................................. 11
3.2.1

Overview .......................................................................................... 11

Volume of Material Required ...................................................................11

3.2.2

Feasibility ......................................................................................... 12

3.2.3

Required Further Investigations ..................................................... 13

Page 14
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3.3

3.2.4

Regulatory Constraints .................................................................... 13

3.2.5

Key Risks ........................................................................................... 14

3.2.6

Benefits ............................................................................................ 14

Option 2 ............................................................................................. 14
3.3.1

Overview .......................................................................................... 14

3.3.2

Feasibility ......................................................................................... 15

3.3.3

Required Further Investigations ..................................................... 16

3.3.4

Regulatory Constraints .................................................................... 16

3.3.5

Key Risks ........................................................................................... 17

3.3.6

Benefits ............................................................................................ 17

3.4

Option 3 ............................................................................................. 17

4

Costs ........................................................................................... 19

4.1

Overview ............................................................................................ 19

4.2

Option 1 ............................................................................................. 19

4.3

Option 2 ............................................................................................. 19

4.4

Option 3 ............................................................................................. 20

5

Comparative Analysis .................................................................. 21

6

CONCLUSIONS ............................................................................. 22

Page 15
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

Figures
Figure 1
Figure 2
Figure 3
Figure 4
Figure 5
Figure 6
Figure 7
Figure 8

Site Location and Layout ..........................................................................1
Maximum Groundwater Elevations .........................................................2
Minimum Unsaturated Thickness ............................................................3
Required Change in Unsaturated Thickness, Minimum Possible
Depths .......................................................................................................4
Required Change in Unsaturated Thickness, Maximum Possible
Depths .......................................................................................................5
Illustrative Landform, Option 1, Minimum Possible Depths ..................6
Illustrative Landform, Option 1, Maximum Possible Depths ..................7
Illustrative Layout, Option 2 .....................................................................8

Tables
Table 1
Table 2
Table 3
Table 4

Regulatory Constraints with Regards to Groundwater Protection ........7
Preliminary Estimation of Required Infill Materials ..............................11
Preliminary Cost Estimate, Option 1 ......................................................19
Preliminary Cost Estimate, Option 2 ......................................................19

Appendices
Appendix 1

SWOT Analysis

Page 16
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background
1.1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

1.1.5

1.1.6

In March 2011, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) were granted planning
permission (The Permission, Ref: 2010/2072), as issued by SMBC, for the extension of
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands (The Site), this being supported by a
groundwater risk assessment (The 2010 PQRA)1.
The Permission included at Conditions 11 to 14 restriction upon the extension with
regards to the protection of groundwater quality, some of which required further
assessment to allow their discharge.
Such assessment was undertaken by BCL Consultant Hydrogeologists Limited (BCL),
resulting in the discharge of Condition 13 (requirement for post development
monitoring programme) in June 2017 (The 2017 Assessment).
The 2017 Assessment identified higher groundwater elevations than were indicated by
the initial monitoring data presented within the 2010 PQRA. Further investigations were
thus required to be undertaken by BCL in 2018 (The 2018 Assessment), addressing both
the need for further groundwater level data, and accounting for the risk to groundwater
quality posed by the commencement of burials within Area 2 prior to discharge of
Condition 12 (preclusion of burials within Area 2 prior to further investigations). It is
understood that this condition was subsequently discharged, though resulted in
significant constraints upon the extent of Area 2 that was suitable for burials.
Due to the reduced area of the Site considered suitable for burials relative to that
originally envisaged, prevailing demand for burial space, and present absence of
suitable alternative cemetery locations, SMBC have instructed BCL to develop options
to bring part or all of the Site back into its intended use, these being required to inform
decision making upon the future development of the Site.
It should be noted that BCL are a specialist hydrogeological and hydrological
consultancy. Where the outlined options involve works outside of BCL’s direct expertise,
it is recommended that specialist third parties be consulted for further comment, and
for corroboration of estimated costs.

1.2 Summary Site Setting
1.2.1

1.2.2

The Site is located at approximately National Grid Reference (NGR): 416303 276450,
being situated to the north west of the village of Bentley Heath, between Widney Manor
Road (to the north east) and the Birmingham – Leamington Spa mainline railway (to the
south west), as at figure 1.
The local area is semi-rural, comprising open farmland and sporadic urban
development, with greater urbanisation prevailing to the north west. The Site itself
abuts farm land to the north and west, and residential development to the south and
east.

1 WSP, ‘Tier 2 Preliminary Quantitative Risk Assessment, Extension to Widney Manor Cemetery’, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, January 2010.

Page 17
Page 5

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

1.2.3

1.2.4

1.2.5

1.2.6

1.2.7

The Site is located upon the eastern flanks of the valley of the River Blythe, towards
which ground elevations generally fall at slight relief (ranging from 136maOD to
127maOD within the Site itself).
Drainage is generally made towards the River Blythe, with the Site itself draining to a
small ditch running north westwards upon the Site boundary with the railway line (The
Railway Ditch). This passes beneath the railway within a culvert (adjacent an underpass),
before flowing westwards to the Blythe itself.
The Site is entirely underlain by the mudstones and interbedded sandstones of the
Mercia Mudstone Group (MMG). This is of indicated thickness 400m and typically
functions as an aquiclude (barrier to groundwater flow), though can support limited
groundwater movement within the interbedded sandstones.
Within the southern and eastern portions of the Site, the MMG is overlain by drift
deposits in the form of glacial sands and gravels (GSG). This forms a minor aquifer (The
Aquifer) of limited thickness and areal extent with the MMG as its base.
To the south, the GSG become overlain by further drift deposits in the form of Glacial
Till (Boulder Clay). This typically forms an aquiclude (barrier to groundwater flow /
infiltration), and is seen to slightly encroach upon the southern Site boundary.

1.3 Approach
1.3.1
1.3.1.1

Planning Constraints
The current layout of the Site is presented at figure 1. It is understood that the current
planning constraints applied to its layout are as detailed below:
•

Area 1: Suitable for both single and double burials per plot (burials permitted).

•

Area 2a: Suitable for both single and double burials per plot (burials assumed
permitted).

•

Area 2b: Suitable for single burials per plot (burials assumed permitted).

•

Area 2c: Not suitable for burials due to presence of groundwater at peak elevations
exceeding proposed grave depths (burials not permitted).

•

Western Burial Area (WBA): Area within which burials occurred prior to discharge of
Condition 12, though which are indicated to have grave depths elevated above peak
groundwater elevations (burials assumed permitted).

•

Eastern Burial Area (EBA): Area within which burials occurred prior to discharge of
Condition 12, where presence of groundwater at peak elevations exceeding grave
depths is indicated, though where the 2018 Assessment identified no resultant
deterioration of groundwater quality (burials assumed permitted).

•

Area 3: Not suitable for burials due to presence of groundwater at peak elevations
exceeding proposed grave depths (burials not permitted).

Page 18
Page 6

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

1.3.2
1.3.2.1

Regulatory Constraints
Current regulatory constraints on cemetery developments with regards to groundwater
protection, where relevant to the Site, and as detailed within current guidance2, are
detailed below at table 1, together with their current relevance to Site areas.
Table 1 Regulatory Constraints with Regards to Groundwater Protection
Constraint
Affected Areas
Note
Not located with Groundwater Source
None
Not located within any SPZ
Protection Zone (SPZ)
250m from well, borehole or spring
None
Nearest such abstraction in excess of 1km
supplying human consumption or food
distant as detailed in 2010 PQRA.
production
30m from any spring or watercourse not
None
2010 PQRA states no such features known
used for human consumption or food
within 100m of the Site.
production
10m from any field drain (wet or dry).
Area 1
Within 10m of boundary ditch between Site
and railway (observed dry at this location in
December 2019).
Maintenance of clearance between grave
Area 2C, EBA &
Insufficient unsaturated thickness identified
base and top of water table and no
Area 3
within these areas by 2010 PQRA (Area 3) and
standing water in base*.
2018 Assessment (Area 2C & EBA).
Not dug into unaltered or weathered
None
Soils / drift present across Site.
bedrock
Not dug in areas susceptible to
None
Area not susceptible to groundwater flooding.
groundwater flooding
Deep enough for 1m of soil cover
Area 2C, EBA &
Insufficient unsaturated thickness identified
Area 3
within these areas by 2010 PQRA (Area 3) and
2018 Assessment (Area 2C & EBA).
*2010 PQRA based on historic guidance requiring an unsaturated thickness as opposed to 1m thereof now
applied in current guidance, which will be applied to any new planning application. Correspondence with the EA
has confirmed <1m may only be acceptable if proven so through hydrogeological assessment at planning stage.

1.3.3
1.3.3.1

1.3.3.2

1.3.3.3

1.3.3.4

1.3.3.5

Approach to Assessment
As only Area 2c and Area 3 are identified to not presently be permitted for burials, it is
considered that assessment should focus solely upon these areas of the Site, regardless
of any identified constraints that may apply to other Site areas.
Both Area 2c and Area 3 have been designated as unsuitable for burials due to there
being insufficient unsaturated thickness (depth to groundwater) to allow grave depths
to remain within regulatory constraints. Assessment will thus solely focus upon options
addressing this issue.
Assessment is to commence with estimation and description of the magnitude and
distribution of unsaturated thickness within Areas 2c & 3, and the comparison of this to
the unsaturated thicknesses required to satisfy burial depths within the prevailing
regulatory constraints, as at section 2.
Options for overcoming the constraints affecting Areas 2c & 3 are explored at section 3
together with consideration of both investigative and permitting / planning works
required for their realisation. Associated costs estimated at section 4.
Presentation of the identified options for comparative analysis is presented at section
5, with conclusion as at section 6.

2 Environment Agency, ‘Guidance, Cemeteries and Burials, Prevent Groundwater Pollution’, July 2019.

Page 19
Page 7

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

2

PRELIMINARY
THICKNESS

ESTIMATION

OF

UNSATURATED

2.1 The Available Data
2.1.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.1.4

2.1.5

Groundwater level data collected within the 2010 PQRA covers the period January to
December 2009 for 6 no. piezometers (WS01 to WS06 as at figure 2). 3 of these
piezometers fall with Areas 2c/3.
Of these piezometers, 4 no. (WS01 and WS03 to WS05) were drilled to areas where the
GSG was absent, and thus record groundwater elevations within the MMG (typically
recorded dry).
Further data is available as collected within the 2017 and 2018 Assessments, covering
the period February 2016 to April 2018 for 5 no. piezometers (boreholes BH1 and BH2
and hand driven piezometers PZ1 to PZ3).
All of these piezometers were installed to record groundwater elevations within the
Aquifer.
A Site visit made by BCL in December 2019 confirmed that only piezometers BH1, BH2
and PZ2 remain in service.

2.2 Groundwater Levels and Flows
2.2.1

2.2.2

2.2.3

2.2.4

As previously discussed, assessment is to focus upon Areas 2c/3 only, and is focused
upon maximum groundwater elevations (at which point the lowest depth to
groundwater will occur), which were underestimated within the 2010 PQRA.
Interpolated contour plots have thus been produced from the 2017-2018 data showing
maximum groundwater elevations within Area 2. This has been supplemented with data
from piezometer WS06 to extend coverage to Area3. It should however be noted that
the limited data availability within Area 3 means that groundwater elevations presented
for this area are highly approximate.
Maximum groundwater elevations are observed to fall south-westwards at a gradient
of 0.017, ranging from some 135.4maOD to some 133maOD, as at figure 2.
The prevailing head distribution suggests groundwaters to flow from the bulk of the
Aquifer’s distribution in line with the prevailing topography until the point at which the
Aquifer is indicated to thin out and give way to MMG outcrop (estimated to occur within
Area 1). At this point, groundwaters are assumed to flow within soils / at ground surface
towards the Railway Ditch (indicated by wet, boggy ground upon the western margin of
Area 1).

2.3 Prevailing Unsaturated Thicknesses
2.3.1

2.3.2

Due to the difference in data availability (and thus confidence thereof), minimum
unsaturated thickness within Area 2c has been estimated from data recorded within
Area 2 only. Area 3 data has been estimated using both Area 2 and Area 3 data.
Interpolated contour plots demonstrating estimated minimum unsaturated thickness
within Area 2c have been produced through combination of peak groundwater

Page 20
Page 8

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

elevation data and Light Detection and Ranging (LIDAR) 1m spatial resolution
topographic data, as presented at figure 3.
2.3.3

2.3.4

2.3.5

Minimum unsaturated thickness within this area is shown to thicken north westwards,
ranging from 0.5m to 1.4m, and is assumed to increase in line with falling groundwater
elevations.
Interpolated contour plots demonstrating estimated minimum unsaturated thickness
within Area 3 have been produced through the same methodology discussed above, as
presented at figure 3.
Minimum unsaturated thickness within this area is shown to fall westwards, ranging
from 0.8m to 0m, and is assumed to reduce in line with falling Aquifer thickness.

2.4 Required Unsaturated Thicknesses
2.4.1
2.4.1.1

2.4.1.2

2.4.1.3

2.4.1.4

2.4.2
2.4.2.1

2.4.2.2

Overview
As discussed, current EA guidance, as will be applied to any new planning application at
the Site, requires 1m of soil above, and 1m of unsaturated thickness below, each burial
(as opposed to a less restrictive ‘some’ unsaturated thickness applied to historic
planning works at the Site, as at table 1). Correspondence with the EA has however
indicated that this may be circumvented, allowing lower unsaturated thicknesses
subject to the findings of risk assessment (which will only be confirmed at the planning
stage).
Assumed burial depths have thus been applied as follows:
•

Minimum Possible Depth: 2010 PQRA single burial grave depth of 1.4m with assumed
minimum permissible unsaturated thickness of 0.1m, subject to later risk assessment
findings (to total depth 1.5m).

•

Maximum Possible Depth: 2010 PQRA double burial grave depth of 1.83m with
current guidance unsaturated thickness of 1m (to total depth 2.83m).

The above burial depths have been combined with the previously detailed unsaturated
thickness data to indicate the degree of change in unsaturated thickness required to
bring Areas 2c and 3 of the Site back into their intended use.
As before, Areas 2c and 3 have been assessed separately due to the differing data
availability, and thus confidence thereof.
Area 2C
The estimated degree of change in unsaturated thickness required to allow Minimum
Possible Depths in Area 2c is presented at figure 4. This indicates increases of between
1m and 0.1m to be required across this area, increasing to the north east.
The estimated degree of change in unsaturated thickness required for Maximum
Possible Depths within Area 2c is presented at figure 5. This indicates increases of
between 2.35m and 1.45m to be required across this area, also increasing to the north
east.

Page 21
Page 9

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

2.4.3
2.4.3.1

2.4.3.2

Area 3
The estimated degree of change in unsaturated thickness required to allow Minimum
Possible Depths within Area 3 is presented at figure 4. This indicates increases of
between 1.5m and 0.75m to be required across this area, increasing to the west.
The estimated degree of change in unsaturated thickness required to allow Maximum
Possible Depths within Area 3 is presented at figure 5. This indicates increases of
between 2.83m and 2.1m to be required across this area, also increasing to the north
east.

Page 22
Page 10

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3

CONSIDERATION OF OPTIONS

3.1 Overview
3.1.1

3.1.2

As discussed at section 2.4, in order for Areas 2c/3 to be brought back into use, Aquifer
unsaturated thickness must be increased. This can be achieved through 3 no. methods
as follows:
•

Option 1: Raising Ground Elevations

•

Option 2: Lowering Groundwater Elevations

•

Option 3: Combining both Option 1 and Option 2.

These methodologies are discussed in greater detail below.

3.2 Option 1
3.2.1
3.2.1.1

3.2.1.2

3.2.1.3

3.2.1.4

Overview
It is considered that the raising of ground elevations, combined with sympathetic
landscaping, may be able to increase the areas of part / all of Area 2 and 3 that are
suitable for either single or double burials, depending upon the volumes of material
available.
There are 2 no principle ways in which this could be achieved:
•

Re-grading of existing Site (for example, raising Area 2 using material generated by
lowering Area 3).

•

Importation of material under Environmental Permit.

Volume of Material Required
Even under Minimum Possible Depths, ground elevations at the western limit of Area 3
will need to be raised in excess of 1m (and up to 2.83m under Maximum Possible
Depths). The need to allow for a stable side slope is likely to preclude meaningful gains
in usable area within the spokes of the current road access (which it is assumed will be
retained). This area has thus been excluded from further assessment under this option
(which will focus on Area 3a as at figure 1).
The volumes of material required to meet both Minimum and Maximum Possible
Depths within Areas 2c and 3a have been derived from the estimated degree of change
in unsaturated thicknesses previously discussed, and are approximated below at table
2.
Table 2 Preliminary Estimation of Required Infill Materials
Scenario
Infill Volume (m3)
Area 2c: Minimum Possible Depths
Area 3a: Minimum Possible Depths
Total
Area 2c: Maximum Possible Depths
Area 3a: Maximum Possible Depths
Total

2,887
6,960
9,847
7,818
15,717
23,535

Equivalent Tonnage of Soil
(Tonnes)
5,196
12,529
17,725
14,072
28,291
42,363

Page 23
Page 11

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3.2.1.5

3.2.2
3.2.2.1

3.2.2.2

3.2.2.3

3.2.2.4

3.2.2.5

3.2.2.6

3.2.2.7

3.2.2.8

3.2.2.9

Application of the estimated degree of change in unsaturated thicknesses to current
ground elevations within Areas 2c and 3a has allowed presentation of indicative
landforms that may be required under Option 1 for both Minimum Possible Depths and
Maximum Possible Depths as at figures 6 and 7 respectively (to OD).
Feasibility
Initial consultation with the EA has confirmed the general acceptability of this approach,
and their preference for this option over the others available.
From a hydrogeological perspective, this methodology of increasing unsaturated
thickness is considered to be reliable and predictable, and has the potential to bring the
majority of the Site into use for single and potentially double burials.
It should however be noted that the feasibility of successfully implementing this
approach is highly dependent upon the availability of the required infill material, the
need for regulatory consents, and public perception.
Although there is limited data available on soil thicknesses across the Site, only some
0.3-0.5m is expected. This, combined with the limited unsaturated thickness available
within Area 3, severely limits the potential to re-gain use within significant parts of the
Site through re-grading only.
It is therefore assumed that imported inert infill material would be required. This would
need to not only meet inert waste classifications, but would likely be further constrained
to specific waste types that would be suitable for unlined deposition and receipt of
burials (likely clean soils and clays only).
An Environmental Permit would be required. The feasibility of attaining this would
depend upon classification of the infill operation as waste recovery as opposed to waste
disposal (for which a waste recovery plan would be required). It is strongly advised that,
if this option is to be pursued, a specialist co-ordinating consultant is engaged at the
earliest opportunity (BCL have consulted with Land and Mineral Management, LMM, on
this matter who would be happy to assist3). This is due to the importance of satisfying
waste recovery criteria at an early stage (which includes establishing a business case for
the use of primary aggregate which waste materials would replace).
Initial consultation with the EA with regards to such an application, intended to allow
assessment of its feasibility from a regulatory perspective, has solely resulted in a
request to pursue such guidance through a chargeable enhanced pre-application
pathway. Doing so may offer further detail on the feasibility of this option.
Partnership with an experienced, established and reputable waste management
company may be beneficial in securing the required waste volumes / types, and in
operating the recovery operation in line with any permit constraints.
Despite the materials used, and likely status as a recovery operation, the infilled areas
would technically be classed as landfilled areas. Public perception both of an application
to do this, and of burial within such a Site, may thus be negative. Further, the works

3 http://www.landandmineral.co.uk/

Page 24
Page 12

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

required to achieve the desired landform could be highly disruptive and visually
unappealing to cemetery visitors prior to their completion.
3.2.2.10

3.2.3
3.2.3.1

3.2.3.2

3.2.3.3

3.2.3.4

3.2.4
3.2.4.1

3.2.4.2

It should be noted that the costs of implementing Option 1 may be partially offset, or
even exceeded, through potential income generated by accepting inert wastes at the
Site (depending on how the Site is classified / operated and the associated involvement
of any third parties). Average gate fees for inert waste deposition are estimated at £20
per tonne4, incurring landfill tax at just £2 per tonne.
Required Further Investigations
In order to confirm the feasibility of this approach, and to develop sufficient
understanding of the hydrogeology of the local area to inform Site design, and support
gaining the relevant regulatory consents, further investigations would be needed
It is recommended that this would commence with the drafting of a Hydrometric
Monitoring Scheme (HMS) specifying monitoring infrastructure requiring installation,
and routine monitoring works as follows:
•

Reinstatement of piezometer coverage within Area 2 and expansion of coverage
across Area 3.

•

Reinstatement of baseline groundwater level data collection.

•

Reinstatement of groundwater chemistry data collection (allowing for data
requirements of both planning works (PQRA) and permitting works (potentially
requiring Hydrogeological Risk Assessment, HRA).

This would be followed by the installation of the specified monitoring infrastructure
(and subsequent commencement of monitoring), accompanied by the following ground
investigations:
•

Recording of drilling logs by qualified geologist / hydrogeologist during piezometer
installation.

•

Excavation of trial pits to assess soil thicknesses using Site plant, supervised by
qualified geologist / hydrogeologist.

Further to the above, it is recommended that the Site be professionally surveyed to OD,
including the accurate recording of monitoring infrastructure datum elevations and
locations.
Regulatory Constraints
Option 1 would most likely require planning consent and thus an associated planning
application accompanied by a groundwater risk assessment. A Site Specific Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) would likely also be required, which may need to specify application
of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS).
A waste recovery plan would be required to be submitted (likely being undertaken by a
specialist co-ordinating consultant such as LMM) to seek confirmation from the EA that
the operation is a waste recovery activity.

4 WRAP, ‘Gate Fees 2017/18 Final Report, Comparing the Cost of Alternative Waste Treatment Options’, June 2018

Page 25
Page 13

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3.2.4.3

3.2.4.4

3.2.4.5

3.2.5
3.2.5.1

3.2.6
3.2.6.1

Application should then be made for an Environmental Permit, Waste Recovery Activity
(also through co-ordinating consultant such as LMM).
Once in operation, the Site would need to adhere to strict permit conditions, likely
including restrictions on waste handling / acceptance procedures and routine
monitoring requirements.
In the event that SuDS are required to be implemented, application for an
Environmental Permit consenting the discharge of Site drainage may also be required.
Key Risks
The key risks preliminarily identified to be associated with adoption of Option 1 are as
follows:
•

Potentially onerous and expensive to permit.

•

Reliant upon availability of appropriate infill materials.

•

Requirement for third party expertise in application / operation.

•

Potential public relations issues with regards to use of infill materials within a
cemetery (despite proposed use solely of clean soils / clays).

•

Potentially disruptive to cemetery users / local residents (noise, dust, vehicle
movements etc.) on temporary basis.

•

Sympathetic landscaping may limit area over which ground can be raised.

•

Risk that findings of further investigations may negatively impact upon option
requirements (if for example higher groundwater levels are detected), or even on
the wider Site (if shallow groundwater is identified in areas presently permitted for
burials, or if groundwater contamination is identified).

Benefits
The key benefits preliminarily identified to be associated with adoption of Option 1 are
as follows:
•

Offers potential to bring entire Site back into use for single or even double burials.

•

Potential for SMBC to use in house expertise for some elements of planning / permit
application, limiting costs.

•

Gate fees provide potential income stream to offset or even exceed implementation
/ operation costs.

•

Potential to receive infill materials from other SMBC developments.

•

Reliable and predictable method of overcoming shallow groundwater issue.

•

Preferred option of EA.

3.3 Option 2
3.3.1
3.3.1.1

Overview
It is considered that the lowering of groundwater elevations via passive (gravity)
dewatering may be able to increase the areas of much of Area 2 and 3 that are suitable
for either single or double burials, without visibly altering the landform of the cemetery.

Page 26
Page 14

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3.3.1.2

3.3.1.3

3.3.1.4

3.3.2
3.3.2.1

3.3.2.2

3.3.2.3

3.3.2.4

3.3.2.5

3.3.2.6

This could be undertaken through excavation of a series of ditches to the base of the
sands and gravels, within which slotted land drainage pipes could be placed, these being
surrounded by aggregate and then backfilled. This would provide preferential pathways
for accelerated groundwater movement, thus lowering groundwater elevations and
increasing unsaturated thickness.
The collected groundwaters could be routed to a single drain with discharge to the
Railway Ditch for onwards conveyance to the River Blythe in existing surface
watercourses.
An illustrative layout of how such a scheme could be implemented (subject to
investigative findings) is presented at figure 8. Insufficient information is available to
predict the area over which burials would be possible following implementation.
Feasibility
Initial consultation with the EA has confirmed the general acceptability of this approach,
though initial consultation with their permitting department with regards to discharging
dewatering waters from the Site, intended to allow assessment of its feasibility from a
cost perspective (dependent on required level of treatment), has solely resulted in a
request to pursue such guidance through a chargeable enhanced pre-application
pathway. Doing so may offer further detail on the feasibility of this option.
From a hydrogeological perspective, this methodology of increasing unsaturated
thickness is commonly applied and reliable in operation, though requires significant
supporting investigations and relies upon predictive techniques with a substantial
degree of error (the actual benefit of such works, and thus areas of the Site brought
back into use, will not be fully known until after implementation, though can be
approximated following further investigations).
It should further be noted that dewatering is unlikely to be able to lower groundwater
elevations below the base of the sands and gravels, and thus interface with the
underlying MMG. The potential benefits are thus entirely dependent upon aquifer
thickness which is at present poorly understood (and could potentially be insufficient,
especially under Maximum Possible Depths).
It is thus considered that this option has a good chance of bringing part or of Area 2c
back into use for burials, but has a relatively limited chance of doing so within Area 3
(where Aquifer thickness is expected to be lower).
Option 2 is anticipated to attract less public attention and cause less disruption than
other available options, and should thus be relatively easy to implement from a planning
perspective.
There is however limited certainty around the ultimate success of this approach, both
due to the lack of sufficient data at this time, and the susceptibility of its feasibility to
unconfirmed regulatory constraints (such as the required unsaturated thickness that
will actually be imposed by the EA, and the level of treatment that will be required on
any Site discharge waters).

Page 27
Page 15

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

3.3.3
3.3.3.1

3.3.3.2

3.3.3.3

3.3.3.4

3.3.3.5

3.3.3.6

3.3.3.7

3.3.4
3.3.4.1

3.3.4.2

3.3.4.3

Required Further Investigations
In order to confirm the feasibility of this approach, and to develop sufficient
understanding of the hydrogeology of the local area to inform Site design, and support
gaining the relevant regulatory consents, further investigations would be needed.
It is recommended that this would commence with the drafting of a Hydrometric
Monitoring Scheme (HMS) specifying monitoring infrastructure requiring installation,
and routine monitoring works as follows:
•

Reinstatement of piezometer coverage within Area 2 and expansion of coverage
across Area 3.

•

Reinstatement of baseline groundwater level data collection.

•

Reinstatement of groundwater chemistry data collection (allowing for data
requirements of planning and discharge permitting works)

This would be followed by the installation of the specified monitoring infrastructure
(and subsequent commencement of monitoring), accompanied by the following ground
investigations:
•

Recording of drilling logs by qualified geologist / hydrogeologist during piezometer
installation.

•

Recording of drilling logs by qualified geologist / hydrogeologist during additional
drilling for ground investigation purposes.

Further to the above, it is recommended that the Site be professionally surveyed to OD,
including the accurate recording of monitoring infrastructure datum elevations and
locations.
A series of small scale aquifer tests should then be conducted upon the Site piezometers
(falling head tests) to estimate Aquifer hydraulic parameters.
The above data should be drawn together in an initial interpretive report assessing its
findings and better detailing the feasibility and benefits of Option 2, and informing
further steps / Site design.
Subject to the findings of the initial interpretive report, and EA consultation, further
hydrogeological investigations may be needed. This may include a small scale field trial
(installation of dewatering infrastructure over a limited area with intensive, short
duration monitoring and following write up) and or the use of numerical groundwater
monitoring.
Regulatory Constraints
Option 2 would most likely require planning consent and thus an associated small scale
planning application accompanied by a groundwater risk assessment. A Site Specific
Flood Risk Assessment may also be required.
In the event that field trials are required, this would likely require consent from the EA
in the form of a Consent to Drill and Test.
It is highly likely that an Abstraction Licence application would be required to consent
the required dewatering abstraction. This should be preceded by a formal pre-

Page 28
Page 16

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

application at an early stage to establish any Site specific concerns the EA may have in
this regard.
3.3.4.4

3.3.4.5

3.3.5
3.3.5.1

3.3.6
3.3.6.1

The discharge of dewatering waters is likely to require an Environmental Permit, Water
Discharge Activity, for which an application will be required to be made. This may result
in conditions requiring the treatment of dewatering waters (if viewed as foul waters,
which is indicated to be highly likely by initial EA consultation) prior to their discharge.
This may incur significant costs to implement which are difficult to predict at this stage.
Discharge to the Railway Ditch may require consent from Network Rail.
Key Risks
The key risks preliminary identified to be associated with adoption of Option 2 are as
follows:
•

The potential benefits and overall feasibility of this approach will not be fully
understood until significant further investigations are undertaken (and associated
costs are incurred).

•

The area over which the Site may be returned to its intended use (single or double
burials) is likely to be limited and will not be fully understood until the completion of
works.

•

Permitting works may potentially be onerous and of long duration.

•

Slight disruption to cemetery users for temporary period of short duration.

•

Risk that findings of further investigations may negatively impact upon option
requirements (if for example higher groundwater levels are detected), or even on
the wider Site (if shallow groundwater is identified in areas presently permitted for
burials, or if groundwater contamination is identified).

Benefits
The key benefits preliminarily identified to be associated with adoption of Option 1 are
as follows:
•

Relatively uncontroversial from planning / public relations perspective.

•

Small scale and relatively quick to implement.

•

Unlikely to require significant expertise external to that available to SMBC / BCL.

•

No significant visual impact within Site (discrete).

3.4 Option 3
3.4.1

3.4.2

A principle concern with regards to Option 1 is the scale of the required works and
availability of required infill volumes, whereas Option 2 may potentially be limited in the
degree to which it can expand the area available for burials within the Site. Combining
the two approaches has the potential to allow double burials across Areas 2c and 3
whilst requiring less infill material than Option 1, and thus allowing a less intrusive
landform and shorter duration of works.
The further investigations, regulatory constraints, risks and benefits of this approach
are thus a combination of those already outlined for Options 1 and 2, offering greater
benefit than Option 2 at a smaller scale than Option 1. The combined regulatory and

Page 29
Page 17

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

investigative burden of this approach does however make it more costly and complex
to implement.

Page 30
Page 18

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

4

COSTS

4.1 Overview
4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

A preliminary estimate of the costs of the planning, permitting and field investigation
identified to be required to date for the options outlined is presented below. Additional
costs may apply relating to operation / implementation etc. Where hydrogeological
works are required, a cost estimate has been provided by BCL. For works falling outside
of BCL’s direct expertise, indicative costs have been sought from third party sources
where possible.
Where the full scope of works is not yet known, or is dependent upon the findings of
further investigations / regulatory requirements, total costs have been presented as a
range. Recurring costs are detailed annually.
Please note that these costs are preliminary estimates intended for comparative
purposes. Formal quotations should be sought ahead of implementation.

4.2 Option 1
4.2.1

A preliminary estimate of the costs of implementing Option 1 is presented at table 3
below.
Table 3 Preliminary Cost Estimate, Option 1
Requirement

No.
Unit
Units
type
Field Investigations and Monitoring
Drafting of Hydrometric Monitoring Scheme (BCL)
1.5
Days
Piezometer drilling (TP)
6
Units
Rig supervision (BCL)
2
Days
Trial Pit Supervision (BCL)
1
Day
Monthly monitoring visit, recurring (BCL)
12
Visits
Monthly laboratory analysis costs, recurring (TP)
12
Visits
Site topographic survey
1
Unit
Planning / Permitting Works
Planning application (TP)
1
Unit
Tier 2 Preliminary Quantitative Risk Assessment (BCL)
1
Unit
Flood Risk Assessment (BCL)
1
Unit
Waste Recovery Plan (TP)
1
Unit
Waste Recovery Permit Application (TP)
1
Unit
Hydrogeological Risk Assessment (BCL)

1

Unit

Discharge Permit Application, including application fee,
assumed £2,460 (BCL)
Totals*
Estimated cost (excluding any income gained from gate fees)
TP: Third Party
All costs are excluding tax

1

Unit

Lower Estimate
£42,916.00

Unit Cost (£)

Cost (£)

£676.00
£1,150.00
£474.00
£474.00
£225.00
£300.00
£500.00

£1,014.00
£6,900.00
£948.00
£474.00
£2,700.00
£3,600.00
£500.00

£5,000.00
£3,620.00
£1,200.00
£2,000.00
£7,000.00 £10,000.00
£4,000.00 £6,500.00
£3,960.00

£5,000.00
£3,620.00
£1,200.00
£2,000.00
£7,000.00 £10,000.00
£4,000.00 £6,500.00
£3,960.00

Upper Estimate
£48,416.00

4.3 Option 2
4.3.1

A preliminary estimate of the costs of implementing Option 2 is presented at table 4
below.
Table 4 Preliminary Cost Estimate, Option 2

Page 31
Page 19

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

Requirement

No.
Unit
Units
type
Field Investigations and Monitoring
Drafting of Hydrometric Monitoring Scheme (BCL)
1.5
Days
Piezometer drilling (TP)
6
Units
Exploration drilling (TP)
4
Units
Rig supervision (BCL)
3
Days
Monthly monitoring visit, recurring (BCL)
12
Visits
Monthly laboratory analysis costs, recurring (TP)
4
Visits
Site topographic survey
1
Unit
Falling head testing (BCL)
1
Unit
Initial Interpretive Report (BCL)
2
Days
Field Trials, if required (BCL)
1
Unit
Groundwater modelling report, if required (BCL)

1

Planning / Permitting Works
Planning application (TP)
1
Tier 2 Preliminary Quantitative Risk Assessment (BCL)
1
Flood Risk Assessment (BCL)
1
Abstraction Licence Application , including application fee
1
assumed £1,500 (BCL)
Consent to drill and test (BCL)
1

Unit Cost (£)

Cost (£)

£676.00
£1,150.00
£745.00
£474.00
£200.00
£210.00
£500.00
£474.00
£676.00
£0.00 £8,000.00
£0.00 £5,500.00

£1,014.00
£6,900.00
£2,980.00
£1,422.00
£2,400.00
£840.00
£500.00
£474.00
£1,352.00
£0.00 £8,000.00
£0.00 £5,500.00

Unit
Unit
Unit
Unit

£2,000.00
£3,620.00
£1,200.00
£2,950.00

£2,000.00
£3,620.00
£1,200.00
£2,950.00

Unit

£0.00 £350.00
£3,960.00

£0.00 £350.00
£3,960.00

Unit

Discharge Permit Application, including application fee,
1
Unit
assumed £2,460 (BCL)*
Totals*
Lower Estimate
Upper Estimate
Estimated cost
£31,612.00
£45,462.00
TP: Third Party
*: Excludes cost of implementation which may include treatment provision at unknown expense
All costs are excluding tax

4.4 Option 3
4.4.1

A preliminary estimate of the costs of implementing Option 3 has been estimated from
the combined costs of Options 1 & 2 less items that are duplicated, giving estimated
total costs of between £50,402.00 and £69,752.00. Please note that Option 3 would
also benefit from potential revenue generation from gate fees.

Page 32
Page 20

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

5
5.1

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS
Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT) analysis matrices have been
prepared to aid in comparison of the identified options, as at appendix 1.

Page 33
Page 21

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West Midlands,
Development of Options to Enable Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials

6
6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

CONCLUSIONS
Assessment has been undertaken to investigate potential for, and develop options to
allow, areas of Widney Manor Cemetery, Bentley heath, Solihull, that are not presently
permitted for burials, to be brought back into their intended use.
Assessment has commenced with consideration of prevailing regulatory constraints
along with assessment of the underlying hydrogeological conditions presently
precluding burials within parts of the Site (insufficient depth to groundwater).
Assessment has identified 3 no. principal options for overcoming these limitations,
including the lowering of groundwater elevations, the raising of ground elevations, and
a combination of both mechanisms.
Consideration has been given to the feasibility, potential cost and possible benefits /
drawbacks of the options outlined, along with presentation of further investigations /
works required.
It should be noted that the presented information is based on limited data and that the
findings should be considered as preliminary only. Though this should be sufficient to
inform upon decision making with regards to the future path of Site development, it is
recommended that the proposed further investigations are undertaken to better inform
any preferred option that may be selected prior to its full implementation.
It should be noted that there is significant crossover in scope, and limited difference in
costs, between the further investigations recommended for each option outlined.
Should further certainty be required to assist in decision making, it is recommended
that the full scope of such investigations is implemented, allowing all options to remain
available prior to a final decision being made.

Peter Simpson BSc, MSc, FGS
Senior Hydrogeologist
BCL Consultant Hydrogeologists Limited
20th January 2020

Page 34
Page 22

First Draft for Client Review & Comment
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001
20th January 2020

S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council

Widney Manor Cemetery
Solihull, West Midlands

Development of Options to Enable
Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
20th January 2020

Figures

Page 35
BCL Consultant Hydrogeologists Limited

Technology Centre, Wolverhampton Science Park, Glashier Drive, Wolverhampton
West Midlands, WV10 9RU. Tel: 01902 824111, Fax: 01902 824112
email: info@bclhydro.co.uk, web: http://www.bclhydro.co.uk
Registered Office: 33, Wolverhampton Road, Cannock, West Midlands, WV11 1AP
Registered in England & Wales. Company Registration Number: 4043373

Page 36
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 1 Site Location and Layout
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 37
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 2 Maximum Groundwater
Elevations
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 38
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 3 Minimum Unsaturated Thickness
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 39
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 4 Required Change in Unsaturated
Thickness, Minimum Possible Depths
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 40
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 5 Required Change in Unsaturated
Thickness, Maximum Possible Depths
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 41
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 6 Illustrative Landform, Option 1,
Minimum Possible Depths
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 42
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 7 Illustrative Landform, Option 1,
Maximum Possible Depths
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

Page 43
S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Widney Manor Cemetery, Solihull, West
Midlands

Development of Options to Enable Use of
Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
Figure 8 Illustrative Layout, Option 2
Drawn By: PS
Date: 20/01/2020

Scale: 1:1,500
Format: A3L

S/SMBC/WMC/OA20/001

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council

Widney Manor Cemetery
Solihull, West Midlands

Development of Options to Enable
Use of Areas 2C and 3 for Burials
First Draft for Client Review & Comment
20th January 2020

Appendix 1 SWOT Analysis

Page 44
BCL Consultant Hydrogeologists Limited

Technology Centre, Wolverhampton Science Park, Glashier Drive, Wolverhampton
West Midlands, WV10 9RU. Tel: 01902 824111, Fax: 01902 824112
email: info@bclhydro.co.uk, web: http://www.bclhydro.co.uk
Registered Office: 33, Wolverhampton Road, Cannock, West Midlands, WV11 1AP
Registered in England & Wales. Company Registration Number: 4043373

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Meeting date:

23rd February 2021

Report to:

Cabinet Member for Stronger and Safer
Communities

Subject/report
title:

REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2020/21 AS AT 31st
DECEMBER 2020

Report from:

Director of Economy and Infrastructure & Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Lauren Beach – Finance Manager
lbeach@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

N/A

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s latest forecast financial position as at
the 31st December 2020 against Revenue and Capital budgets as summarised below
and detailed in the attached Appendix A.

1.2

To inform the Cabinet Member of the Portfolio’s progress against the latest 3 year
savings targets in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) summarised below
and detailed in Appendix A.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

The Cabinet Member is asked to:
2.1

Consider and endorse the 2020/21 revenue and capital financial monitoring forecast
as at 31st December 2020.

2.2

Consider the Portfolio’s progress against the latest 3 year savings targets in the
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as at 31st December 2020.

2.3

In accordance with Financial Regulations approve a budget virement of £103,500 from
the Climate Change, Planning and Housing portfolio to the Stronger and Safer
Communities portfolio in respect of the Housing Policy team (paragraphs 5.1 – 5.2).

Page 49

2.4

In accordance with Financial Regulations to approve in conjunction with the Cabinet
Member for Resources a contribution of £40,000 in 2020/21 to a new reserve for
Library stock (paragraphs 5.3 – 5.5).

2.5

In accordance with Financial Regulations to approve in conjunction with the Cabinet
Member for Resources a contribution of £180,000 in 2020/21 to a new reserve for
community and regulatory impacts of Brexit (paragraphs 5.6 – 5.9).

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Throughout the financial year, information will be provided on a quarterly basis to the
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and Full Cabinet.

3.2

The cash limited discipline at Solihull means that Directorates need to balance their
budget forecast position first and the Portfolio’s position flows from that. As a result,
this cabinet is specifically taken into account across the Economy and Infrastructure
Directorate.

3.3

The revenue and capital financial position, the savings position for 2020/21 to
2022/23, the key risks and opportunities and required approvals are outlined in
Appendix A.

3.4

The overall Council position is reported to Full Cabinet together with any planned
actions; any variances are then considered in line with Council priorities and Financial
Regulations.

Revenue Budget 2020/21
3.5

The latest approved revenue budget for the portfolio is £5.676million. The forecast
outturn expenditure for this year is giving a favourable variance of £616,000. This
includes an adverse variance of £50,000 due to Covid-19 after funding from the
Government’s income recovery scheme has been applied. Further explanations can
be found in Appendix A.

3.6

As Members will be aware a report went to Full Cabinet on the 18th June outlining the
initial financial impact of Covid-19 for the 2020/21 financial year. The Period 3 and
Period 6 positions have subsequently been reported to Full Cabinet on the 10th
September and 5th November respectively. The position is continually moving and
evolving and the latest Covid-19 forecast across the Council, as at 31st December
(Period 9), for the 2020/21 financial year is net nil – meaning that there is no adverse
impact on our finances expected this financial year.

3.7

For Period 9 the individual portfolios’ Covid-19 financial position should therefore be
reviewed within the context of the overall Council Covid-19 financial position. It should
be noted that the estimates of the financial impact of Covid-19 included within this
report are indicative, based on latest assumptions, and are still subject to change over
the course of the remainder of the financial year.

3.8

The general Covid-19 emergency funding that we have received to date from the
government is still being shown corporately, and at this point in the financial year it
would be premature to allocate any of this funding to portfolios (beyond the decisions
already made) until we have a clearer picture of what each individual portfolio’s financial

Page 50

position is likely to be as we get nearer to the end of the financial year, and what funding
is available to offset it.
3.9

The forecast variance arising from Covid-19 for this portfolio should be considered in
the context of the position for the Economy and Infrastructure Directorate relating to
Covid-19. The Economy and Infrastructure Directorate is forecasting an adverse
variance of £1.713million relating to Covid-19. This includes the estimated impact of
the Government’s income recovery scheme where local authorities can reclaim 75%
of lost income attributable to Covid-19 where this is in excess of 5% of total planned
income for the year.

3.10

Excluding the impact of Covid-19 the directorate is currently forecasting a £919,000
adverse variance for the year which will be offset through use of reserves to give a nil
variance. The main reasons for this variance sit within the Environment and Highways
portfolio where it has become clear that a number of budgets are now unrealistic and
will need to be realigned as part of the MTFS process. Significant additional
investment has been made in adults’ and children’s services in previous years but this
has not been the case for the Economy and Infrastructure Directorate.

3.11

In previous years the directorate has used reserves to balance its forecast position.
The majority of the remaining reserves are earmarked for specific purposes. The
forecast assumes that some of these reserves will be applied to offset the in-year
position, although they would subsequently need to be replenished as part of the
budget process.

Capital Budget 2020/21
3.12

The latest approved capital programme for this portfolio is £355,000. The forecast
outturn expenditure for the year is a favourable variance of (£86,000).

Budget Strategy Savings 2020/20 to 2022/23
3.13 For 2020/21 the total savings target is £25,000 which is all rated green.
3.14 For 2021/22 the total savings target is £100,000 which is all rated green.
3.15 For 2022/23 the total savings target is £14,000 which is all rated red.
4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

N/A

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option
Housing Policy Team Virement

5.1

Following the reshaping of the Communities function at the beginning of 2020/21 one
of the key areas of focus for the newly formed Stronger Communities service is to
develop, oversee and deliver a new Solihull Housing Strategy. To support this a new
Housing Policy and Strategy Team is to be created with two new roles of Housing
Strategy Manager and Housing Strategy Officer. The new roles within the team will
also support and manage new monitoring oversight and arrangements concerning the

Page 51

SCH client function, support and manage relevant housing partnerships and
governance, as well as the deliver statutory and other essential housing functions.
5.2

Two posts within Planning, Design and Engagement Service have been focused on
Housing Strategy throughout the development of the Local Plan and have been
identified to transfer to the new Housing Policy and Strategy team once their roles in
the Local Plan have come to a conclusion. To reflect this, approval is sought for a
budget virement of £103,500 from the Climate Change, Planning and Housing
portfolio to the Stronger and Safer Communities portfolio in respect of Housing Policy
staff.
Library Stock Reserve

5.3

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic library buildings have been closed for much of
2020/21. A click and collect service has been in operation when government guidance
has permitted and the service has also invested in an enhanced digital offer. A
number of publishers have been shut at various points during the year, and
publication dates have often changed. The result of this is that purchases of physical
stock have been much lower than in previous years. Expenditure on digital stock has
been higher than in previous years to ensure that customers can still access a high
quality service without leaving their homes.

5.4

Taking into account the change in profile of the stock budget for 2020/21 there is a
potential in year favourable variance of around £80,000. This can be declared as a
saving in relation to Covid and go towards mitigating the other financial impacts of the
pandemic, however an element of this is a timing difference as opposed to a true
saving. When the service fully reopens more stock will need to be purchased than in a
usual year to reflect the pause in purchasing during 2020/21. For example, for books
which form part of a series, it will be necessary to purchase new releases plus any
books which were unavailable in 2020/21 to ensure that the Library carries the full
series. The Library service would also aim to continue to provide a strong digital
offering for customers, some of whom may have accessed this for the first time during
the pandemic.

5.5

In order to ensure that the Library service can continue to offer a good selection of
both physical and digital stock when libraries fully re-open, it is recommended that
£40,000 of the Library stock budget for 2020/21 is contributed to a new Library stock
reserve.
Brexit Community Impact Reserve

5.6

In recent years the Council has received a number of government grants in relation to
preparing for Brexit. A total balance of £319,000 was carried forward to 2020/21 from
a grants for Brexit preparation, EU Regional Hubs and Regional Economic
Intelligence. In November 2020 the Council received details of a further funding
allocation of £800,000. This included £500,000 specifically for the Inland Border
Facility and £300,000 to support the work of the Local Resilience Forum. The grant
allocations are not ring-fenced but are expected to be utilised for the intended
purposes.

5.7

Developing robust partnership responses to support communities and tackle crimes of

Page 52

intolerance is a key role of the Council and there is a risk of increased community
tensions as a result of leaving the EU. The recommendation is to put in place an
additional band E post for a two year fixed term to provide additional capacity around
community safety, anti-social behaviour and environmental compliance issues across
the Borough’s public realm, business and retail areas.
5.8

Whilst it is not yet known whether the Inland Border Facility will create extra demand
for the Council’s trading standards service, it is widely accepted that new demands will
be placed on local authority regulatory services over the coming months and years as
a result of new checks on goods and the support needed to business, particularly as
new trade deals and cross border arrangements start to take shape. In order to
ensure there is sufficient capacity to fulfil our duties around consumer protection, it is
recommended that an additional band E post for a two year fixed term is established.
This will cover any additional demand from the Inland Border Facility and, potentially,
any which might arise if the Airport’s application to be a designated Border Control
Post from July 2021 is successful.

5.9

Approval is therefore sought to create a new reserve of £180,000 funded from Brexit
preparation funds carried forward from previous years to fund the costs of these two
additional posts over a two year period.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

No new contribution to this priority.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

No new contribution to this priority.

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.

People and communities is a fundamental
part of the services within this portfolio.
There are no new implications from this
report.

Page 53

6.2

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 None
6.3

Financial implications:
Financial monitoring is undertaken throughout the year by individual budget
managers. Key income and expenditure risk areas are also monitored monthly by the
Finance Team. Any significant risks identified are reported to both DLT (Directorate
Leadership Team) and CLT (Corporate Leadership Team) to ensure that net
expenditure is managed within approved budgets. ARTOP (Aligning Resources To
Our Priorities Board) meet monthly to oversee the financial impact from Covid-19.

6.4

Legal implications:
None

6.5

Risk implications:
The budget monitoring report takes account of forecast variances. In addition there
may be pressures which are currently being monitored and managed by budget
managers which could affect the final outturn position for 2020/21.

6.6

Equality implications:
None

7.

List of appendices referred to
Appendix A – Quarter 3 Financial Position.

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

N/A

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

N/A

Page 54

Safer & Stronger Communities Quarter 3 2020/21 Financial Position
Economy and Infrastructure Directorate Position
The context of this Cabinet portfolio position is taken into account with the whole of the Economy and Infrastructure Directorate which is currently forecasting an adverse variance of £1.713million due to the impact of Covid-19 and £919,000
attributable to other factors which is offset by use of reserves (£919,000).
1. 2020/21 Revenue Position

Current Forecast - £616,000 Favourable Variance
Budget
£000s

Quarter 1 2019/20 Revenue Forecast by Service Area £000s
3,000

2,454

2,500

Forecast
£000s

Total Forecast Variance
£000s

2,247
1,907 1,912

2,000

1,589 1,512

1,500

£000

1,000
500
0

447

537

406

296

583

5

240

5

295

(1)

(41)

(500)

82

0

(33)

(77)

(208)

(343)

504

5

(1,000)
(1,500)
(2,000)

Page 55

Directorate Management
and Support - Stronger and
Safer Communities

Regulatory Services

Neighbourhood
Management

Crime and Disorder
Reduction and
Neighbourhood Activity
Programme

Libraries

Bereavement Services

Customer Services and
Registrars

Housing Stock Partnership and Sustainable
Management and Condition
Working

2. Explanations for significant Revenue Variances

Budget
£000s
583

Forecast
£000s
240

COVID
Forecast
Variance
£000
17

Regulatory Services

447

406

96

(137)

Neighbourhood Management
Crime and Disorder Reduction and
Neighbourhood Activity Programme
Libraries

5
296

5
295

0
0

0
(1)

2,454

2,247

6

(214)

(2,142)

(2,059)

(151)

234

Customer Services and Registrars

1,589

1,512

82

(159)

Housing Stock - Management and
Condition
Partnership and Sustainable Working

1,907

1,912

0

5

537

504

0

(33)

Total

5,676

5,060

50

(666)

Service Area
Directorate Management and Support Stronger and Safer Communities

Bereavement Services

Non-COVID
Forecast
Variance
£000
(360)

Total
Forecast
Variance
£000s
Comments
(343) Covid-19 pressure due to support provided to Solihull BID.
Non-covid variance from early delivery of savings reinvested in the Directorate as part of Medium Term Financial Strategy and use
of reserves to balance the overall Directorate position.
(41) Covid-19 pressure from reduced Licensing income partly offset by funding from the income recovery scheme.
Non-covid variance is mainly due to a number of vacancies during the year which are in the process of being recruited to.
0
(1) Minor contract spend variation.
(208) Covid-19 pressure due to loss of income during Libraries closures net of running costs savings and funding from the income
recovery scheme.
Non-covid variance due to staff vacancies held pending review of operating model.
82 Covid-19 variance due to additional net income from April to June.
Non-covid variance due to £60k undelivered savings target and historic budget pressure.
(77) Covid-19 pressure due to reduced income for Registration Service, partly offset by funding from the income recovery scheme.
Non-covid variance due to vacancies held during pilot of reduced opening hours which has now been agreed as a revised
operating model.
5 Minor contract spend variation.
(33) Variance on Kingshurst Youth centre running costs and remaining commissioning budget not yet committed.
(616)

3. 2020/21 Capital Position

Schemes
LIBRARIES DIGITAL INCLUSION
LIBRARIES - MINOR WORKS
LIBRARY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
IMPLEMENTATION
RENOVATION GRANTS
MINOR WORKS ASSISTANCE
REGIONAL HOUSING GRANT
Total

Budget

Forecast

£000s
18
30
26

£000s
18
30
26

Variance

50
216

50
130

0 Remaining grant funding for renovation of homes. A policy on how this will be allocated is being developed.
(86) Budget available for minor works carried out in private sector homes to assist vulnerable occupiers. Slippage has been reported due to Covid-19.

15
355

15
269

0 Remaining grant funding for renovation of homes. A policy on how this will be allocated is being developed.
(86)

2020/21
£000s

2021/22
£000s

Comments
£000s
0 Budget for trial of wi-fi printing.
0 Budget for works to libraries to enable colocation opportunities.
0 Library Management System was implemented at the end of 2019/20 with final work to fully integrate with existing systems being completed this financial year.

4. 3 Year Savings Targets £000s

Savings Targets - RAG Rating
Description of Target
Reduction in staff mileage expenditure
Review of Council budgets to remove
small value budget lines

Red
10%

Cross directorate target which has been delivered.

(9)

Cross cutting Council target which has been delivered.

(16)

Page 56

Review of the Stronger Communities
Directorate
Review of back office functions across
the directorate
Total

2022/23
£000s Comments

Review of the Stronger Communities Directorate was carried out in March 2020.
(100)

(25)

(100)

(14) Proportion of cross directorate savings target attributable to this portfolio.
(14)

Green
90%

5.Reserves

Reserve Balance

Balance as at 31st March
2020
£000's
(1,229)

Planned / Forecast (contribution)/use
2020/21
2021/22
£000's
£000's
211
(7)

2022/23
£000's

Forecast Balance at
the end of 2022/23
£000's
333
(691)

Forecast
Proposed as part of Forecast Remaining
(contribution) /use
2021/22 MTFS
Balance
£000's
£000's
£000's
691
0
(0)

Agenda Item 6
STRONGER COMMUNITIES & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY BOARD
20 JANUARY 2021
STRONGER COMMUNITIES & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY BOARD
20 JANUARY 2021
(VIRTUAL MEETING)
MINUTES (EXTRACT)
1.

SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP REVIEW
In attendance: Mrs Alison McGrory (Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships) and
Councillor Mrs A Rolf – Cabinet Member (Stronger & Safer Communities) and Chair of the
Safer Solihull Community Safety Partnership.
The Board was invited to consider a detailed report regarding the outcomes, to date, of a
Review of the Safer Solihull Community Safety Partnership and to seek the Board’s views on
a proposed new Governance Framework and a potential reset of the Board’s crime and
disorder scrutiny function, going forwards, to complement those arrangements.
In addition to the report itself, Officers also delivered a PowerPoint presentation to highlight
the key objectives of the report.
Officers emphasised that it was important that there were clear lines of accountability for
each of the statutory Partners at a senior level and that there was clear oversight and
challenge by Elected Members. In order to achieve this, the report set out a number of
proposed changes to the existing formal governance process.
As a result of the report, the following questions and observations were noted:


In supporting the overall principles, the Chairman highlighted that the Review brought
about the opportunity to reset the Board’s Crime and Disorder Scrutiny function to
ensure that all Strategic Partners were held to account equally. To date, the
community safety performance of the Police tended to be the main focus of much of
the Board’s attention.



Moving forwards, the Board considered that each Strategic Partner should have
measureable individual community safety targets within the new structure. From a
scrutiny perspective, those targets could be reported to the Board at the beginning of
each Municipal Year and the Board could then undertake performance monitoring
and robust challenge at agreed points during the ensuing year. The Board
considered that this would be a more effective means of scrutiny instead of
Partnership updates on key activities as was the current model. Officers supported
the suggested approach which would ensure all Strategic Partners demonstrated
their “added value” to Safer Solihull Partnership, rather than reporting on the regular
work of their individual organisations by default.



The Board supported the proposed new framework and highlighted that there was an
opportunity to strengthen links to other groups to better deliver the Partnerships
priorities and have clearer accountability and commitment. Members also sought
clarification as to what budget, if any, had been appropriated to the new proposed
arrangements going forwards. Officers highlighted the importance of the links to the
two Safeguarding Boards within the Framework and the ongoing work to clarify those
linkages. In terms of the individual groups that reported into the Safer Solihull
Strategic Board, work was also in hand as part of the Review to fully understand their
work and achievements to ensure clear and measureable outputs.

Page 57

SCNSSB 20 01 2021 Minutes (whole).doc

STRONGER COMMUNITIES & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY BOARD
20 JANUARY 2021


The Board also highlighted the importance of streamlining the governance
arrangements so the role and purpose of each group within the Framework was
relevant and obvious; and that clear pathways of communication resulted.



Officers also highlighted that the Review sought to re-establish the links between the
Strategic and Delivery arms of the Partnership to ensure clear accountability.

Councillor Mrs A Rolf – Cabinet Member (Stronger & Safer Communities) and Chair of the
Safer Solihull Community Safety Partnership highlighted her support for the Review and the
potential reset for the Boards Crime and Disorder Scrutiny function.
RESOLVED
That, subject to the comments and views recorded in the preamble
above, the Board UNANIMOUSLY made the following
RECOMMENDATIONS to the Safer Solihull Partnership and the
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Stronger & Safer Communities:
(i)

That the Board supports the Governance Framework
Review outcomes, to date, for the Safer Solihull Community
Safety Partnership and the proposed new Governance
Framework as set out in Appendix B to the report;

(ii)

That the Board supports the proposal to use the Review as
an opportunity to “reset” the Boards statutory Crime and
Disorder Scrutiny function;

(iii)

That each Strategic Partner be set individual targets, in
consultation with this Board, to enable their individual “added
value” to the Safer Solihull Partnership to be measured
throughout the year; and

(iv)

That this Board receives the final report at the conclusion of
the Review process for information.

Page 58

SCNSSB 20 01 2021 Minutes (whole).doc

